After Death Comunications
by L. M. Bazett

PREFACE

THIS short book contains the record of some of the communications received by me through automatic writing between the
years 1916 and 1918.

Its chief recommendation to public notice liesin the fact that the accounts given are Strictly accurate, and that the statements
made by communicators have been carefully verified, wherever possible. Pseudonyms are used, and names of places have
been dtered, to prevent recognition; in some cases aso the rank of officers has been changed, for the same reason.

Whether these communications can come under the heading of telepathy from the living, or whether, asthetitle suggests, they
are partly dueto telepathy from discarnate minds, isfor the reader to decide.

In alarge proportion of the cases, there was no previous link with the communicators or their families; the latter were put into
touch with me by letter, and in the mgority of cases | wrote without relations of the communicator being present.

In other cases the communicator wrote spontaneoudy, and | was never in touch with hisfamily at dl: verification in these cases
wasonly possiblein anindirect way.

Altogether between fifty and sixty persons have communicated, and, athough in some cases the evidentia matter was
inggnificant, the cumuletive evidence is congderable.

| can report only afew of these cases, and the choice has depended necessarily upon permission given to make them public.

Some of the records have aready been published in Light, and | am indebted to the Editor of that journa for kind permission
to reprint them. | have. been helped in every phase of thiswork, and of itsrecord in this volume, by my friend MissE. F.
Cooper, to whose kindness | am aso indebted for the loan of asmall cottage adjoining her house, which enabled usto do
continuous work together.

L. MARGERY BAZETT.



TheFirs,

Redhill, Surrey.

INTRODUCTION

IT isimportant that all careful records of phenomena caling for some supernormal explanation should, asfar as possible, be
published. Only by much accumulation of such data shal we be enabled to make the proper inferences asto causation.

Therecord in thisvolumeis specidly to be welcomed, by reason of the exceptiond qualifications of its authors.

They disclaim wide acquaintance with the subject, but their equipment iswhat most people would consider very good; and
more important than knowledge of other cases they have a painstaking habit of mind, and are as free from prgudices aswe
can expect mere human beingsto be.

| had the pleasure of severd talks with them within afew months of the inception of the writing, and was much impressed by
the excellently systematic way in which they were keeping the record, with complete dating of each script and each item of
verification, and so forth.
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They showed meall their manuscript, and | examined it carefully. discussing various matters of detall.

My opinion was, and is, that, while thereis some sublimina matter (which has diminished as the writing progressed), thereis
much that is most reasonably explained by the hypothesis of discarnate agency.

Telepathy from distant, and often unknown people may not be excluded, but | think that such a hypothetica explanation of
these phenomenais far-fetched.

Thewiser plan for the rgector of spiritist theorieswould be, | think, to assume that the knowledge shown was " somehow"
possessed unconscioudly by Miss Bazett. But | think the amount of knowledge thus possessed is more likely to be estimated
correctly by the two ladies themselves than by anyone else. And, though they avoid dogmatism, they make their conclusions

pretty clear.

Tome, at leadt, they seem justified.

J ARTHURHILL.

CHAPTERI

FIRST COMMUNICATIONS RECEIVED

BEFORE attempting to give an account of the work done during the years 1916-1918, | should like to make it clear that
before 1916 thewholefield of Psychica Research wasto me an. unexplored territory.

The great war which swept men from our midst in such rgpid succession, touched our family circle at thistime.



A young relative, Lieut. Frank Thompson, was killed suddenly, after being at the Front for afew weeks only.

After hisdeath | was strongly impressed with the ideathat he wished meto carry out something which, owing to his sudden
departure for the Front and subsequent degth, he had been obliged to leave unfinished. Unless | were supplied with acertain
name and address known to himself done, | knew that | could do nothing in the matter.

After consultation with afriend, | decided to try the experiment of automatic writing,
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in case Frank were able by this method to give me the necessary information.

| tried for ten minutes together, at agiven time, during nine, successive days, without result, and decided that the tenth day
should close the experiment. From thefirst | was very sceptica asto the possibility of obtaining any success, and should have
given up the attempt sooner, but my desire to supply achannel of communication for Frank, if such athing were possible, made
meinclined to persevere.

| was frankly amazed when on the tenth day (July 24th, 1916) an electric current seemed to rush through my arm and hand,
with such force that the pencil which | held was thrown across the room.

After thisforce had moderated sufficiently to make writing possible, the full name of Frank Thompson appeared, and with it
that of hiselder brother, Christopher Thomjpson, who had been reported "missing” afew months earlier, and unofficidly
reported killed in aletter received on July 17th, 1916. Shortly afterwards, the missing name and address were given. | wrote at
once, asking if the name of Lieut. Frank Thompson were known to these people, and received a prompt reply in
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the affirmative; the letter stated that their son, then serving abroad, had been from time to time in touch with Lieut. Frank
Thompson.

As Christopher's name had appeared in the writing, and as he had been only unofficialy reported killed, it seemed natural that |
should ask Frank for more definite news of his brother.

| think it well to mention herethat on July 1<t, 1916, before any automeatic writing had been attempted, | had the following
experience in connection with Christopher.

| woke in the morning before it was fully light. My mind reverted a once to aletter. received the day before, mentioning
particularly the suspense felt by Mrs. Thomjpson concerning Christopher; he had been reported missing,” as dready mentioned,
in April, 1916, and in spite of continuous enquiry, no news had been, obtained. As | was thinking about this, Christopher
himself appeared at the foot of the bed; 'he was in uniform, but wore no cap; his brow was puckered, and he looked
distressed, and seemed to be trying to rivet my attention upon himself. He drew a newspaper from his pocket, held it before
him, and looked at it. It dawned upon me that he was scanning the "missing” column, where his own name was placed.
Glancing up from
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the paper, he looked Straight at me, and repeated three times the following words:. "1 waskilled...it could not have been
otherwise, if you had known the circumstances.” It was said solemnly and deliberately. Having said this, he walked round to the
right side of my bed, close enough for me to notice the smell of hisbreath, and this awakened meto the redlity of his presence.
(There was a specid characteristic fragrance about Christopher's person and breath, which was well known to me.) He
vanished as suddenly as he had come, and | remained for some time pondering upon this experience.

A few weeks afterwards, on July 25th, 1916, | received the following letter from agreat friend of Christopher's, Captain P.
Marryat, then serving in France:



"l was gtting in here done, writing to X-, when it seemed that Chrisimpressed his thoughtsinstead of mine. The thought
seemed to be...It'slike an impressionit picture...how stupid you are...you can't find the right words, or really understand...you
don't want to look at the details...thisis my message (Christopher's), not yours."

Theletter continues; "And that was dl |
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could get. | seemed to have, or fed, Chris impatient worrying over the inadequacy of the words. Y ou know how he used to
say 'Oh, how stupid you are.™

A second letter from Captain Marryat, dated August 4th, 1916, referred again to this experience. Hewrote: "1 had no fegling
of Christopher being there, only of Christopher's thinking, and hisimpatience seemed to bethat | couldn't find the right words,
rather than at theideg; | don't think | missed that.”

Captain Marryat had no knowledge at dl of my vison of Christopher.

During the autumn of 1916, | received many written messages from Christopher; some were of an evidentia nature mentioning
names of people be had met "over there," and these were carefully verified. Some dedlt with the new conditions under which he
wasliving; one day hewrote: "Dying isredly rather fun, you know, aswe are so much happier here, and much freer to do lots
and lots of things. Y ou haveno idea.”

When this message was shown to Captain Marryat, he remarked: "That strikes me aslike Chris."

His mother had been thinking about prayer for the "departed,” and Chris answered her
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thought by writing the following message: "Asto praying for us, tell mother this. Pray for Frank and me every day. We pray for
you, both of us."

One day we asked him: "Can you actudly seetheroom we arein?' The answer was. "No, | can't seeit, | fed. Sightisvery
deceptive. Fed intensdly.”

His mother asked: "What attitude on our part gives you' over there'most satisfaction?"

Thereply was: "l think faith-I mean vison | sufficient light to live by awell of water to draw from.... A well.

Life..l will explan...Life

FIRST COMMUNICATIONS RECEIVED 17

A wdll-balanced, regulated, planned:

[square waveillugtration]

No haphazard affair...

Haphazard...[short zig-zag illustration]

Y our view on earth | mean.



(Question): "Who taught you this symbol of ordered life?"

(Answer): "Just mine, my very own does, doesn't it? 1. want to learn such crowds of things here. | fed burgting with desire,
desrefor expanson.”

Another day hewrote: "We here see alarger part of life than you. We are very happy, aslove abounds here. Heaveniisand
will be, perfect love and harmony. Life and love are wonderful here. Rate has hurt so many, and has been sad.”

CHAPTERII

CASESWHERE SOME LINK WITH COMMUNICATORS EXISTED

THE casesrecorded in this chapter are not given in order of sequence, but are classed together because in each instance there
was some previous link with the communicator or hisfamily; this arrangement has been carried out in order that readers may
more eedlly judge of the evidentid value of the communications.

Thefirst caseisthat of Lieut. Baker (reported in Light), who was afriend of Christopher and Frank Thompson, and personaly
known to mysdif.

He spent the day with me on September 27th, 1917; in the course of that day he referred once or twice to Christopher who
was presumed dead since April of the previous year, and mentioned his own strong conviction that he himsalf would bekilled
shortly after hisreturn to France.

Hisleave was over three days ater, and it was not until October 8th that my attention was again directed to him in the following
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way. On the night of October 8th (1917), towards the dawn of the Sth, | dreamt that | saw Lieut. Baker lying on a stretcher,
apparently dead; his head was turned aside, awvay from me; several people were bending over him. | seemed to be watching
the scene, and noticed that Christopher was aso standing near.

| learnt afterwards that Lieut. Baker was killed while flying, in the early morning of October Sth, 1917, but no further details
were received by hisfamily until someweekslater.

In the meantime | received the following communication by automatic writing, and was able to verify it later from letterswritten
by the pilot and the chaplain.

On October 16th, 1917, | asked Christopher Thompson whether Lieut. Baker was able to communicate yet, and was told that
he could not, but Christopher himself volunteered the following scraps of information: "Went so suddenly "..."Mentioned
dentigt."

The pilot's |etter of November 10th stated:-

"Welanded at once, and medica assistance arrived quickly; they said he must have died ingtantly.”

| learnt from hissgter, in reply to an enquiry, that the whole of hislast day of leave had been spent at the dentist's.
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On October 19th, Christopher reported asfollows: "I am seeing him to-day.... Heis so adeep lill.... Hethinksheisina
dug-out, poor old Baker.... He spoke once of you, and the darn(ed) war...sheison ahard chair...he was rambling.”

Lieut. Baker had only recently joined the Flying Corps, and it would be natura that his mind should revert to adug-out, which
had been so familiar to him in the early part of the war.



The referenceto the "hard chair* isin connection with September 27th, when we spent most of the day in the garden, and | sat
on arather upright chair, which at the time he offered to replace by amore comfortable one.

On the same day (October 19th) Christopher gave more particulars. "Leg hurt badly...soldier in plane with him survived.”

From the pilot's | etter, quoted above, we learnt that ""He was shot in the ssomach; it may have penetrated sdeways," and the
chaplain reported that "Pilot and machine landed safely.”

Later on October:19th, and on November 4th, Lieut. Baker himsdlf was able to write alittle, giving afuller account of what
took place
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at the time of hisdeath: "l waswaiting for sound of aeroplane, and missed it, wind so strong.” (This was written on October
19th.)

"l heard gun, and that was dl...German plane sank so low in wind, came out of cloud. (Written on November 4th.)

Miss Baker verified the message of October 19th in writing to me on November 2nd: " The communique of the day hewas
killed stated that the ‘aeroplanes went up in spite of rain and sorm dl day.'

We give extracts from the pilot's account, dated November 10th:

"A German fighting, machine was coming straight for us, out of acloud, and firing a us. At that moment Baker stopped firing,
and fell forward over hisgun.... Thefirst | knew of the attack was, that | heard a machine gun behind us, which sounded very
close; another plane was diving to get under us; the clouds were very low, and at times we were practicaly in them.”
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Lieut. Baker dso wrote through my hand (November 4th) that "Dalten lost big glass," which conveyed nothing to me at the
time, but hissister explained later that an optician named Daten (name atered) had failed to repair Lieut. Baker'sgogglesin
timefor himto
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take them back to France, and that he must have gone to the attack without them.

| have reported this case rather fully, asit shows how smple and natural communication can be.

Lieut. Baker has not communicated through me again, except to send a definite message to hissister when | was sitting with a
medium, asking her not to overstrain hersdlf a her work.

In the autumn of 1917 | wastold of the death in action of ayoung officer named Sydney Pollock, whose relations were known
to me by name only.

His mother had read Sir Oliver Lodge's Raymond, and after her son waskilled, she naturally became interested in the
possibilities of communication ater deeth.

| was introduced to Mrs. Pollock, by amutua friend, and recelved some messages from her son at her request.

His mother had wondered whether he had met any of their relations, as there were so few on the "other sde” who were nearly
related. He reassured her on this point from the very first, and mentioned the names of two relations whom he had seen,
describing onein the following words. "Uncle Tom isadear, mother; | do like him awfully.”
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Thisuncle, describing Sydney in alater communication, wrote: Y ou are very well pleased with your son, and indeed heisa
fine boy...he has the head of hisfather, the same broad forehead....Y our boy is made of theright stuff.” (Correct.)

"Uncle Tom" dso gave an accurate description of hisbrother Nigel Pollock, Sydney'sfather, referring to hislove of golf and a
pipe, his keennessfor politics, and hisearly grey hairs. (Correct.) Sydney and his mother had been very closefriends, and it
was gpparently agreat consolation to him to know that their friendship was unbroken, and that she ill thought of him asdive.

About 9x months after his deasth he Wrote:

Mother, | say, do you think | am diveal thetime? Don't forget to do so, asit ishard on us, jolly hard, to fight out the feeling
dead, it is hateful to us chaps. Some have never been thought redly aive by. asingle relation, poor chaps.”

Another young officer, killed in action, writing through my hand in December, 1916, was equally insgstent on this point, sending

the following messageto hissister: "I want her to know | am not dead. | am alive. Did shethink | was adeep? No, indeed, not
"
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Inthefollowing caseit will be seen that the communicator, aMiss Mary Bardd ey, was able to make use of the sengitive's
clairvoyant powersto supplement the writing, which she found difficult.

| havein each casefound it very hard, and it has generdly proved unsuccessful, to get communication from awoman. Miss
Barddey died in December, 1916, after ashort illness. On November 18th, 1917, she communicated in the following way. My
friend and | were Sitting facing a bookshelf on which (unknown to me) were some of Miss Barddey's books, given after her
degth to my friend.

| had met Miss Barddey once or twice, but my friend knew her very well, and had often discussed the subject of
communication with her. Thewriting came very laborioudy, and nothing definite or satisfactory came through.



Looking up during apause, | saw abright bluelight in front of the bookshelf; as| watched it, it moved to a certain book (a
Bible) and remained stationary.

| told my friend what | saw, as she was not able to see the light, and she said at once that* the book was Miss Barddey's own
Bible. A date wag then written, which might have been 1870 or 1878, the last figure was not clear.
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We opened the Bible, and found the date 1878 on the first page, Then followed the chapter and verse of one of her favourite
texts, correctly given; after thisthe blue light moved to two other books which had been specidly valued by her.

We have not been ableto try this experiment again, but it seems probable that great possibilitiesliein thisdirection, and that
some form of sgndling by means of lights could be devel oped.
CHAPTER I

CASESWHERE RELATIONS WERE PRESENT

| HAVE only oncewritten for achild (Daisy Pendleton, aged five or six years), and thistook place in the presence of her
father. He was a complete stranger to me, and wasintroduced by letter. On hisarriva | asked him who it was with whom he

wished to bein touch, and he said that it was his daughter; it did not strike me at the time that the daughter might be alittle child.

Mr. Pendleton sat at the other end of the room while | waswriting, and said quite naturaly: "Daisy, will you give your father a
message?’

My hand wrote quickly: "My daddy, my daddy."

| replied (on paper): "Yes, heishere.”
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She then wrote: "Dickie has been my gresat love, hewasasad boy.... IsDaddy very sad, cos| am so happy.... Hisgirliehas so
loved her father...tell him so. My brother Dickie, can he fed me?’

26
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Mr. Pendleton said that Dickie was Daisy's favourite brother: he had been intensely sad after her death, and puzzled asto what
had happened to her.

The father answered severd questions aoud, apparently confident that the child could hear.

In answer to "Have you seen Baby lately?' Daisy wrote:

"My daddy, yes, course | have.... My daddy, yes, yes."

The next question was. "How many teeth has Baby?'

Daisy wrote: "Y es, teeth number 3 (written asamirror image 3 and then 3), | think. And you were pleased.”

Two drawingsfollowed, the first of My horsewot | rode and the second " Pussy fluffy with big tail."
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Daisy's message closed with thewords: "Give my loveto Dickie, and be my own Daddy till.  Daisy.”

Mr. Pendleton said that the answers to these questions were correct, and that the drawings represented two of her pets.

He sent some further questions by letter, but the answers to these were unsatisfactory on the whole, possibly because the father
was not present.

My interview with Mr. Pendleton took place on December 2nd, 1916, and on the evening of December 3rd | had acurious
experience. | wasdtting in my room, in adim light, and suddenly saw (clairvoyantly) ashort dark man standing in the room. He
had brush-like hair and moustache, which gave him a curious appearance, smal, very humorous eyes, and curling eyelashes.
Hewas dressed in blue serge, and wore aflat black bow at his collar, rather large. He seemed to be greatly amused, and was
amiling broadly; his gppearance was so red that | found mysdlf involuntarily smiling back a him! He vanished quite suddenly,
and it was not until months afterwards that a possible clue was supplied by Mr. Pendleton, who wrote asfollows: "'l may
possibly have known the man you saw clairvoyantly,
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athough the description does not taly exactly with anyonethat | can call to mind. The man | have in mind was called Walter."

On another occasion, | wokein the night, or early morning, and saw the figure of ayoung officer rush through my room,
gpparently without being aware of me.

He seemed to come through the outer wall, and go out at the door; hisfeet were ayard or more from the floor. Hewasin
khaki, but wore no cap, and his hair was streaming with perspiration; hisface was very tense and strained, and he was looking
towardsthe ceiling asif be saw nothing. He was apparently in great distress, and | could only ask mentally that help might be
sent to him. | have no ideawho he was, and have never been able to identify him.

During the summer of 1917, another stranger, Mrs. Alderton, living in Y orkshire, was introduced to me by etter; asin the case
of Mr. Pendleton, the introduction came through an Associate of the Society for Psychica Research, MissH.. A. Ddlas,
‘whose books brought her many enquiries from bereaved parents, and who had arranged to make occasional use of
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my power of automatic writing, where it seemed to her that such help would be desirable.

Mrs. Alderton was anxious to receive amessage from her son Kenneth, who had been killed in thewar; shewasin very close
touch with him, and therewas astrong link of understanding between them, aswell as of affection.

She came to see me on severa occasions, when | wrote for her. Part of the communication seemed to be confused, but a great
dedl of it was clear, and undoubtedly characteristic of her son.

| give rather a detailed account of these messages, and the mother's verification of them, astheir evidential vauewas
heightened by my knowing nothing whatever, a the time of writing, of the history of the Aldertons.

From the statements made by Kenneth, he seemsto have had some knowledge of the kind of message that might contain useful
evidence, for even before | had seen his mother he wrote: " Sandgate send to....

Mrs. Alderton had written to me from London, and Sandgate conveyed nothing to me in connection with her; but aletter from
her stated: "I was on my way to Sandgate, or Folkestone, which is one with Sandgate.... He (Kenneth) had specidly happy
memories of
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this place, where he had spent more than one holiday, and it looked asif he knew, and wished to mark his knowledge of where
| wasgoing."

At the ssametime, also before his mother came, Kenneth Wrote: "Mother has three children,” and Mrs. Alderton told me
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afterwards that thiswas correct.

Later in the day, when his mother was present, he wrote: "Rachel iswell; say she believesin her daughter'sfaith, and sheis
happy.... Tdl mother this."

Rachel was the name of Mrs. Alderton's mother, who had, died.

One smdll point puzzled Mrs. Alderton, but she was ableto explainiit later.

Kenneth wrote: "Which faceisfuller?

Mrs. Alderton, writing later, says | have been impressed by some things which smply puzzled us when you wrote them, and |
fed | mugt write and tell you of them. Do you remember saying 'Which faceisfuller?in apuzzled voice, after you had written it
down, and adding 'l do not know what that means.' When avery intimate friend of hisand mine, to whom | showed the script,
saw this, she gave expression to the thought which had passed through my mind afew minutes before.

Does this mean...Which faceisfuller
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of the two photographs?... | have dways with me two photographs of him, taken at the interval of ayear." Herefollowed a
detailed description of the two photographs, pointing out that one showed the face as thinner than the other.

On August 4th, 1917, when Mrs. Alderton was not present, her son wrote: "Alderton has seen hisfather at hiswork Golden,"
later written as" Gold."

This reference conveyed nothing to me at the. time, but Mrs. Alderton wrote: "It struck me as most remarkable. His father had
been alittletime previoudy at a place cdled the Gold Fieds, where hiswork, nothing to do with gold, had taken him. There
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seemsadigtinct alusion to the Gold Fields. Y ou could have had no concelvable knowledge of this, and | was not thereto
convey it to your subconscious telepathicaly, and it was not the kind of thing you would come upon by chance, so that it seems
to me more remarkable than anything else we have obtained.”

This message was prefixed by the emphaticaly-written ingtruction "Go to her and say,™ asif it had some specid significance.

Other statements made by Kenneth, and confirmed by his mother, were asfollows
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Daily | see mother fondly take my photo, and speak to me.... My Mother was agreat player of game, chess...would you ask
her to play 4till, it isan excdlent game, Alderton will find apartner for mother.... | love play lente, Alderton wanted fellowsto
be quiet when you played.... Flowers he till loves."

Mrs. Alderton was very musicd, and agreat chess-player, but had given up the latter since her son's degth, as she had chiefly
played with him.

One day hewrote...I fetch granny," and then followed amessage from Mrs. Alderton’'s mother Dear...your mother...you are
puzzled, why? My help isready...your boy isdive, and well, and gay."

Some reference was made to an old friend in the following words. " Ruth was a hel p...Ruth was worried, worried that specid
day, do you remember?... Ship...India..so long ago, dear...think, think..."

The"Ruth" referred to was agreat friend of Mrs. Alderton's, who took temporary charge of Kenneth when achild.

The"specia day" referred to was the day
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they sailed for India, when their luggage was lost and nearly left behind.

Referencesto two school friends were made on another occasion, asfollows. "Mother, | am, here, my friend, too, is here,
John.... My mother met him at Sandgate once, long ago.”

His mother wrote thus about. thisfriend:

The only friend named John | knew my son ever to have had was avery dear boy, who passed over afew weeks after he did.

| had met him 'once long ago,’ but this did not take place at Sandgate, neither wasiit a Sandgate that my son had known him.
The mistake disappointed me.... Much later on, at asitting with another psychic, | enquired about this boy John, mentioning
only his surname, which was curious and unusud, and was then told that my son, the purporting communicator, wished to say
that his friend had been mentioned before by apsychic previoudy, but coupled with awrong suggestion.”

Another friend was mentioned in the following words. "Mother, Leep has died, do you know?"

His mother ‘wrote, saying: "A short time previoudy another school-fellow of the same period, whose name began with 'Lep'
had, in fact, passed over,"
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Thefollowing account of communication from aMr. Marston was published in Light of November 23rd, 1918, and |
reproduce it here in the same form.

Mr. Marston died in December, 1916. As hiswife had died while their children were young, he had dwaystried to be both
father and mother to' them, in which he had fully succeeded.
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The Margton family was quite unknown to me until | met Marion, the second daughter, who was greetly devoted to her father,
and quite inconsolable at his death.

She was able to verify the allusons made to her mother by referring to her elder Sster; as she hersalf wasatiny child at thetime
of her mother's death. The home was broken up after the father's desth, and Marion was working independently when | met
her. It was only after | had written for her father that she told me anything of her family history and circumstances.

The communications are shortly reported asfollows:

November 5th, 1917.-Question: IsthisMarion Marston's father? Answer: Graham M.

Note.-Christian name correct.
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November 5th, 1917-"My handshake was better for Marion'steaching.”

Note.-He had apeculiar way of shaking hands, and Marion had tried to teach him to grip less hard.

November 5th, 1917-"Idahad a peculiar way of saying 'Dad,’ peculiar to the Marston family.”

Note.-Thiswas correct. The"lda" referred to was the dder sister.

November 6th, 1917.-"Been to see your grandfather Bill, with the far away gaze | know so well-like my child-led aquiet and
beautiful life"
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Note.-The grandfather's name was William. All these allusions were perfectly correct.

November 6th, 1917.-"| have seen Idatoo; her back iswedl?'

Note.-lda had been suffering from her back, but had recovered.

November 8th, 1917.-"1 have seen Marion's mother. Mother haslost her baldness, which was such a pity, wasit not?'

Note-The reference to "Marion's mother" was natura, as Mr. Marston had married a second time. Thefirst Mrs. Marston had
become
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very bald during her last illness her husband had loved her beautiful hair, and had much regretted this disfigurement.

November 8th, 1917.-"Mother used to look very sweet in that coloured jacket; it was between a blue and agreen.”

Note.-Mrs. Marston wore a dressing-gown exactly of this colour during her last illness.

November 8th, 1917.-"Natura to be by asofa.... | sat in the corner of one so much, Lassie, did not |7

Note.-| was sitting with Marion on asofawriting. The father and daughter had aways sat together on a certain sofaiin their old
home.

"Lass€e" was his pet namefor Marion.
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November 8th, 1917.-"We will ask Miss B. if she has some swest violets, the scent helps me.”

Note.-Violets were hisfavourite flower. There were some faded onesin the room in which we were writing.

November 8th, 1917.-"Golden tree-lupins | loved too...white globe tolerus-flower; beautiful thing.”

Note.-Mr. Marston loved flowers, and these were some of hisfavourites. A gardening index gives"trallius'-" Globe-flower."

38 WHERE RELATIONSWERE PRESENT

November 29th, 1917.-"Marion, why not take that tonic you used to have at home? That pink mixture?"

Note.-Marion was run down at the time. She well remembered a certain pink-coloured tonic which she had been accustomed
to take.

November 29th, 1917.-"At seventeen she (Marion) had a great shock. We were away at the time. She was waiting for meto.
join her. Idawas away. She (Marion) missed me, and | was very anxious. When wefinadly did meet it waslate, and we missed
tram-car. Sheand | did not get hometill after eleven, She was much affected. | am anervous man mysdf.”

Note.-Marion stated that the above was correct in every detail. Mr. Marston was essentialy of a nervous temperament.

| knew nothing as to the correctness or otherwise of these answers until | wasinformed by' Miss Marston.

CHAPTER IV
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CASESWHERE RELATIONSWERE NOT PRESENT

DURING the Spring of 1917, Miss Ddllas, to whom | have already referred, sent me aletter of introduction to aMrs. B-, an
invalid, living in Worcester, whose only son, Sergeant John B-, had been killed on May 22nd, 1916.

The bond of affection between them was exceptiondly strong, and his care for his mother was as thoughtful asthat of awoman.

Mrs. B- had some belief in communication, and was anxious to have a message from her son, if thiswere possible.

| tried to write for him on March 20th, 1917, asking him first the written question: "Have you any message for your mother?|
have promised to try and get one."

The answer came a oncein firm, easy writing: "Y es. Thank you for your kindness. Y ou, mother darling, have been so brave.
Miss Dallas was good to you...sheis out to help mothers, and you have been blessed. John isyour son and no other. My loveis
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greater than ever, because love never faters here. John died in agreat cause.... Truth dies never. Death hides from your eyes
what it revealsto us. Lifeisbeyond doubt afund of treasure. John lives, livesin much scope and joyfulness. John waits and
praysfor you and Dad.... Believe this message, trust the sender. John must give proof. John saw mother take his photo out of
the sideboard drawer, fetch ablue frame, and put it in by Dad's on my mantelpiece.... Y ou will see | was seeing your lifewith
my own eyes. Y ou won't be disappointed if | havefailed to get this correct, | will try againif you are. Thislady has an active
mind, and this| must use. It'sahdp, and adifficulty my great love wraps you round. No moreto-day. | will write again if
Miss...Lady will be so kind. Mother, adieu. "JOHN."

This message was sent to Mrs. B-, who replied: "I put an enlargement of hisin agreen frame, and hung it over the mantel piece.
| may have had it in the sideboard drawer, because | often put photos theretill I can frame them.”
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She added: "He would frequently put, Y ou, mother darling’ when addressing mein particular...he dways said 'Dad.”
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Mrs. B- dso asked me, if | werewriting again for John, to seeif he could give the pet name by which he used to call hissigter.
The nearest gpproach to thiswritten automatically was " Cuffie," but the real namewas"Kathie."

Names and other words are sometimes written phonetically, and the writing is then not purely automatic, but partly
impressional, helped out by clairaudience. Thismay explain the difference between "Cuffie' and "Kathie."

John B- spoke of having met "William-"Muller"-and "Gunner Hunt.”

| wrote to Mrs. B- about these names, and shereplied: "A dear chum was killed afew months before John, he was called
Williamson. | find that John had afriend named Muller, whether alive or not | do not know."

Letters of enquiry to Canada about Muller have not yet been answered, and may have been lost, owing to war conditions. A
friend of John's answered the enquiry about Gunner Hunt; he wrote: 1. think my chum did know aman by the name of Gunner
Hunt." Further particulars about Muller were given later by John B- asfollows. "Muller was agood man, mother, alover of
truth...hisface reminds me of Sdller, Jm Sdller, you
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know.... Seller nice chap, good chap, had away of looking you Straight in the face.”

Mrs. B- wrote: "There was a boy in John's platoon whom John thought very highly of; he wrote me when hewaskilled; the
namewasgiven; it waslike Sdler.”
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Writing later, she said that the name was Syder, and the initid was"J."

A curiousfegture in one of John's messages was, that he wrote abar of music after his signature, giving no explanation; |
copied. the music and sent it to his mother, who forwarded it to a sergeant, and received hisanswer: "It certainly wearsthe
aspect of abugle-cal.” | reproduce the bar here:

On June 10th, 1917, Sergeant B- wrote:

Did you get up on F- W-? Was the heat too much for you, my best one?™"

His mother's comment on thiswas. "At 4 am. on Friday, June 8th, | was awakened by torrents of rain, and thunder; as thunder
always upsets me very much, | dressed and came downdtairs, and lay on the sofa.”
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John's carefor hisinvaid mother is shown in dmost every message; he added to his remark about the heet and its effect on his
mother: "Hest, how strange to me. Can people takein we fed them ill, and sympathise? Mother, dear, 'be alittle careful this
hot westher. Dear, we are near, we are, we are.”

Asthe weather changed in the autumn, he wrote on November 15th, 1917: " Sofa by the window is cold, mother, turn it round
asyou used to do.”

The following remark showsthat he was aware of conditionsin hisold home: "I like the wooden chair with pink cushion.... |
likethat new curtainin my old room.... My beautiful swell stick, does dad useit now?... My big photo is damp behind, |
think... just look, dear.... My watch dad has had mended now at last, mother...dad has been so long away from his
garden...those cabbages are alittle bigger than they were.

The reference to the garden amused the parents, asthey termed it "the wilderness," and Mr. B "never does anything in the
garden from choice," according to hiswife's account.
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Mrs. B- verified the other points asfollows:
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"l dways st in a high-backed wooden chair; it has a pinkish-looking cushion.... We have some new thick curtainsin the
sitting-room since John was here.... John once bought it (the stick) for hisfather's birthday; it isvery plain, and very strong....
John may mean to be funny about the stick."

The referencesto hiswatch being mended, and the photograph being damp, are explained in this|etter from his mother: "His
father has had my watch, which John gave me, seen to this summer; it was waiting along time.... When | was dugting it (the
photograph) | thought that perhapsif anyone could not see quite plainly, they might think it was mould (after describing the
dtate of the picture).

John B- enquired once after afriend of his. "IsHedley ill at home?!

The name was apparently wrong, for his mother replied: "Hopley joined the army sixteen months ago.”

John oncereferred to hissister as"Judy,” and Mrs. B- wrote: "My daughter tells me that when they were children, they often
played agamein which they called each other Punch and, Judy, but it was many years since John cdled her that."
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On June 10th, 1917, just before 8 p.m., | fet astrong impulse to write automatically, but as | had not finished supper, | waited

till the med was over and wrote then.
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A message came from Sergeant B-: "May | write? B-," followed by acommunication to his mother. | sent thisto Mrs. B-, and
in her reply shewrote: "At about a quarter to eight p.m., June 10th, | was standing at the open window, and asked him (John)
if he heard me, to send a message to you then.”

The communication just mentioned contained the following request " Father, be more careful about-"(indicating Mr. B'skneg).

His mother wrote: "Mr. B- was not able to take any country appointments, owing to an accident to his knee, and on the 10th
of June, the day you wrote, returning from -- he was thinking of and praying for John, and just felt alittle of hisknee; he does
now if hewalkstoo far.”

| give next some stray remarks scattered throughout Sergeant B-'s written messages, asthey give someideaof his persondlity;
when writing for him, | dways had a strong impression of hisbeing avery fine character, and it gave mered pleasure to come
into contact with him.

46 CASESWHERE RELATIONS

"Mother believes| live, and that is great gain and joy. Must we be hindered, mother, by death? | say no, NO. | will show you
of my own free will much revelation, dear,...| yearn to help. | see the men with years of regret weighing them down. Help our
boys before they are men.... Dear heart, | seeyour lifetill. | need your prayers, for lifeisgrowth.... | an only ableto givea
half-hour now, work callsme, and | must obey. | love you, darling, and | am near. | am so very happy, | your own son."

His mother told methat he used to sing The Rosary, and thought that he took the expression, "Dear heart" from the song; she
said that he had many pet namesfor her.

| have never, up to thistime, met Mrs. B-, or anyone connected with her; | have cometo know her entirely by letter, and to
appreciate her as | appreciate her son.

| must add here that thisisthe only casein which | have departed from my rule of usng pseudonyms, at Mrs. B-'sown
request. | had sent her acopy of what wasto be inserted in this book, with names carefully changed, and received the
following reply from her: "Y ou are quite at liberty to do asyou please, but we should like it much moreif you called
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him John (real name) instead. of James (pseudonym). Wouldn't it do if you said John B- and Mrs. B-, lso Worcester (real
name)? No one would connect it with us unlessthey weretold, and | tell al my friends, and others besides.”

Once or twice during 1916, I met ayoung Mrs. James, and we had some discussion on psychic matters, she asked me later if |
would try to get amessage, from Dr James, who had been dead for a year or so; | promised to do so on thefirst opportunity.

She gave me no information whatever about him, and | had never heard of him before. | should like to make it quite clear,
however, that two facts concerning him were known to the friend who sitswith me:

(2) Hisname and profession.

(2) That hedied after along illnessin a suburban nurang home; the nature "of the illness was not known to her.

On October 13th, 1916, | was sitting alone, trying to write for Dr Jamesfor the first time.

When my friend came into the room later, she noticed the cramped position in which | was Sitting, and that | was writing from
the ebow, moving the whole of the lower arm;
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she remarked that the attitude was that of a paralysed person, and owing to the fact that she had nursed a paralysed invalid,
she recognised this characteristic at once. A few dayslater | questioned Mrs. James on this point, and she stated that Dr James
had been partidly paralysed, and that when hewrote, it was in the manner described; we aso compared the script with his
handwriting, and it was found to have astriking resemblance.
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In my experience, thishasrarely happened, athough there are marked differencesin the handwriting of communicators; it
variesin 9ze, regularity, and the amount of pressure used on the pencil.

All the following communications came through on October 13th, 1916: "English must dways be good.... English very hard,
great labour.... My friend John must help Philip about publishers.”

Mrs. James said that this part of the script must refer to abook that Dr James had been writing, and had been unable to finish
before his death; her husband (Philip James) had contempl ated finishing the book, but was not good at English; hisfather wrote
excdlent English, and was particular in this respect.

"John" referred to Dr John Alexander, of

WERE NOT PRESENT 49

-Hospita, London, who was an intimate friend of Dr James.

The rest of the communication consisted of referencesto hisearlier life and friends; we were able to verify these through his
daughter-in-law.

Some of hisrecollections were asfollows, and athough fragmentary, they were useful for identification.

"James was years ago Surbiton. James was hearing music.... My pew was near Mrs. Arthur M...Gates...Mills.... Yearsago |
walked past the Gables...My son knew Simpson.... Mrs. Mullinswas friend of ours.... My wife was on committeeswith her....
My wifewas very keen about poor ladies.”

We ascertained that Dr James used to go regularly to a certain house in Surbiton for musica evenings. He had sittingsin St
Gregory's Church, Roehampton, afew pews behind those occupied by aMr. Millsand aMr. Gates. "The Gables' was. the
name of alarge house in Roehampton; Dr James used to take his son there when a child, to have lessons with aclass of other
children. "Simpson" was the son of Mrs. Simpson, who had lived at "The Gables."
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"Mrs. Mullins' lived in Roehampton, and was afriend of the family; she was on severa committeeswith Mrs. James.

The statement about Mrs. James interest in poor ladies was correct. All these allusions were unknown to me.

In the four casesthat follow, the communication was entirely spontaneous, and in three out of the four cases the very existence
of the communicator was previousy unknown to me.

Theinitiative came entirdly from the "other sde," and the communication seemsto have been sent with the definite object of
bringing help to someone ill in the earth-life,

Inthefirst case awarning was given, aswill be shown. On December 2nd, 1916, | was writing for the friend (deceased) of a
Colond Taylor, who was present, when an unknown name "Taunot" was written, which had no connection with Colonel Taylor
or myself, and was consequently ignored.

Four days later, when writing for another stranger, the same name recurred, written thistime as " Tauntn" (proved later to be
phoneticaly correct) followed by the words "Fedling sad about Em...y." Variationsof this
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Name-"Taunnot"-"Taun"-were again repeated on December 10th and 12th, while | waswriting for quite different people.

It was proved afterwards that this persondity had no connection with any of these sitters. His identification was agreat
difficulty, and was only discovered by chance some months|ater.
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On December 8th, 1916, "Taunton™ wrote; "

| will verify my statement. Taunot...Taylor (the sitter, as on December 2nd, confusion of name here)...will stop Mother going. |
am afraid she will meet trouble on the way."

We verified thislater asfollows: Mrs. Taunton (wife of the communicator, referred to as"Mother") left England about the
beginning of December, 1916, for South Africa. She had avery good voyage, but on her journey up country shewasin abad
ralway accident. Owing to the floods the railway bank subsided. The whole carriage turned over, and she was flung into the
mud and water, and strained her leg.

The mention of "Taylor" in the above script caused great confusion, as Colond Taylor naturally imagined that the warning
concerned someone connected with him, and mystified
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afriend of hisconsiderably by asking if she were planning to take ajourney, and if so, advising her to postponeit!

Thereference to "Emily" evidently concerned Mr. Taunton's daughter Emily, who before the war wasin charge of nunsina
convent in Belgium; since the German occupation, up to 1917, no news of her had been received by the family, in spite of
many enquiries. The following message also seemsto refer to Emily, as no other daughter wasin France or Belgium, but the
name given hereiswrong:

"Sophie found dead in France.”

A few months later he wrote: "Emily will meet me soon.... Emily will be found dead.... Adelaide has adeep sorrow on her
mind.... Addl...Taunton...to confessfor Lent."

Mr. Taunton and hiswife were Roman Catholics, and thiswas written in the spring of 1917; hiswifé's namewas Addaide.
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These facts and names were quite unknown to me.

Two other fragmentary sentences were given:

"You must find away newsto Lyd...get...Martin...John iswith daughter.”

Lydiawas another daughter, John (deceased)
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and Martin were friends of the Taunton family.

Curioudy enough, "Martin" wasintroduced to me by |etter, as he wasinterested in Spiritudism | had then no knowledge of his
link with the Taunton family, thistranspired later.

It may be remembered that Christopher Thompson, the subject of the first chapter, included in his messages the names of
various people whom he had met since his degth.

He a so gave correct information concerning the fate of severa fellow-officers reported "Missng” on the same date as himsdif,
athough considerable time elapsed before his statements could be verified.

One of those referred to was abrilliant young officer, a Captain Marton, who was mentioned by Christopher in amessage on
August 9th, 1916: "About Captain Marton, heisover here.... | have seen him...heis happy except for hisfather.”

Asinthe case of the other officersjust mentioned, my only knowledge of Captain Marton was, that his name was on the
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"Missing" ligt with that of Christopher Thompson.
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On September 5th, 1916, Christopher brought Captain Marton to write, and the message was given: "Marton wants father
helped." Thisreferred to Colone Marton, who was quite broken down after his son's presumed degth.

On October 3rd, 1916, Marton wrote, referring to the attack: "Everyone dead; surrendered to the enemy and was killed."

We learnt much later that the whole divison was practically cut to pieces.

On October 16th, he wrote, with evident agitation: "I want father helped...send my love only...Cedric has come.... Cedric has
come.”

The last sentence wasin different writing, and we asked: "Who isthis?"

Thereply was. "Cedric Deam, friend of Marton.”

We then enquired of him what we could do to help Captain Marton, and he replied: "Help hisfather...my coming helps
Marton...go to Colonel Marton for his son...you have been good to Marton...Marton was hel ped.”

At this point Marton himself wrote again:

Deam...nice chap.... Ethel so anxiousto-day, and Father soill, and...and...and what can | do?

33



WERE NOT PRESENT 55

We asked: Would Ethd bdievein communication?

Hewrote "What?'

Weexplained: "A message from you," and mentioned spirit-communication.

His puzzled reply was: " Spirit? Spirit | say, what do you mean?'

Wewere aso puzzled, and asked: "Y ou have | ft earth, haven't you?'

Hisanswer was. " Goodness, yes."

At this point Deam again broke in, and wrote: "Marton so agitated, so sorry he can't write.”

| then explained to Captain Marton my difficulty (writing this down) that, as he was only reported "missing” | hesitated to
approach hisrelations with news of his death, more especialy asthey were entire strangers. He answered: "Quite so. Very
sorry | wasimpatient. Such strain...you will help asyou think best. | am relieved. Marton.”

Captain Marton's agitation about his father was accounted for by the following facts: Colond Marton was taken serioudy ill in
the street on Saturday, October 7th, 1916, and very nearly died. He had a serious relapse on October 14th.
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Ethel was the name of Captain Marton'sonly sister.

Thesefacts were entirely unknown to me.

On one occasion hewrote: " Sylviawas...wha madeit away for us.... SylviaTam...fresh girl.... | like her...sheis so gentle.”

This apparently referred to aMiss Sylvia Tanner (deceased) who had been governessto Captain Marton in his childhood; this
fact was dso unknown to me.

The"Taunton" and "Marton" cases werereported in Light.

Much trouble was taken to identify Cedric Deam, who was eventudly proved to be areal person.

He had been killed in France early inthe war.

It has never been possible to approach the Marton family, and al confirmation of messages came through acquai ntances of
thers.

On October 23rd, 1916, | was writing for the brother (deceased) of aMr. James Rawdon; the | atter was present; he was not
an entire stranger, but | knew nothing of hisaffairs, nor the names of hisfriends.

Mr. Alfred Rawdon (the brother who had
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died) gave no information concerning himsaf on this occasion, but announced through my hand that "'Roger B.M. isbadly
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wounded...you will haveto be brave." Clairaudiently | heard him add: "He isdying, or dead,” but | refused to let my hand write
this, nor did | mention it then to Mr. James Rawdon, the itter, as | shrink from the respong bility of announcing such
predictions, which may prove untrue.

Mr. James Rawdon was greatly surprised at being told that Roger B.M. (whom he recognised at once as hisfriend Colonel
Roger Burn-Murdock) was wounded, asthe last news he had received was that the regiment had goneto Ireland.

We learnt later from two sources that Colonel Burn-Murdock was wounded about 9:30 am., afew days after the
announcement had been written by Mr. Alfred Rawdon; he died eight dayslater in hospitd.

A fortnight after his death Colonel Burn-Murdock himsdf wrote: "I have estate property, and will leaveit to Mrs. Ferg..."

Thiswas corroborated afew weeks later in aletter, stating "Mrs. Ferguson has all the estates. Colond Burn-Murdock Ieft a
codicil which has not been published.”
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Mr. James Rawdon attended the Memorid service, and during the ceremony mentaly asked hisfriend: "Can you see mein this
church, a your Memoria service?"

| wasignorant of this question having been asked, but was impressed to write that day, and received the following message
from Colond Burn-Murdock: "He wants meto say that | was ableto see himin Church. Tel himyes."

Two characteristic remarks concerning his parents were interesting from an evidentia point of view.

About hisfather hewrote: "Was Ceylon. Fond of white Te...."

Hisfather had travelled in Ceylon, and had often remarked on the beauty of the white Temples.
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In referring to his mother, he mentioned her tendency to rheumatism; he also spoke of the beautiful crochet-work she used to
do; both these points proved to be correct.

It was only after the lgpse of ayear that | was able, with very great difficulty, to obtain verification of most of his messages.
Colond Burn-Murdock's persondity was one of the most interesting and advanced of dl those with whom | have comeinto
contact through thiswork. The greater part of hiscommunication
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was of avery private nature, which cannot be reproduced; much of it was evidentia, and was carefully verified; we have only
been ableto give afew fragments from his messages.

Owing to the fact that this book is published so shortly after the messages have been received, it will be easily understood that
many of the mogt strikingly evidentia passages have had to be omitted, out of consideration for the fedings of the surviving
relatives

CHAPTERV

CHARACTER SKETCHES

THE following case (that of Lieut. Cyril Markham) was published shortly In Light, but we are able to report it more fully here.
The account given by Lieut. Markham of his own death was curious and interesting; he waskilled in action, but thereisno
suggestion of war-conditions in the description of his passing, aswill be seen.

The communication was asfollows: "l went out dowly."...(I had asharp, painful impression of his being shot through the right
lung.-"L.M.B.)

"I had afedling of being adeep on ashady hill, as| felt cool breezes on my left cheek...I smet wild lavender...woke at last, and
saw-whom do you think?-why, old gentleman you know...funny head, fond of hunting, heart big asbig.... Refreshed? said

37



he...and your father's son dl over, every inch...kind old eyes, grey like father's, only more grey...
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| don't likeamemorid, father...makes me sort of want to smile, then weep, for the way we understand, or rather,
misundergand...| an mysdf?1 am tremendoudy mysdlf.... Lifeisgrand here"

When | met Mr. Markham for thefirst time, | noticed hisvery kindly grey eyes.

He and hisfamily were entire strangers to me, introduced by letter. The parents were planning amemoria to their son; thiswas
quite unknown to me at the time of writing.

Lieut. Markham was, we learnt, agreat lover of nature, and ajoyous persondity; | dways had thisimpression strongly when
writing for him, and it is apparent from timeto timein the script, e.g., "Oh, hear the birds.... | would like to catch you up, father,
to hear the birds.... | will Singinthe dressng-room like abird...Some day you will hear, father.”

Hisfather told methat Cyril aways sang while dressng. Mr. Markham and his son were very close friends, and after "passing
over," Lieut. Markham, himsdf, a decided Churchman, showed some concern about hisfather's rdigious views, the latter
described himself as agnodtic.

Thereferenceisgiven thus " Cyril wants
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father to beled to God.... Dad was so honest with Cyril about hisviews.... Regret so much my wanting himto bea
Churchman, does not matter."

Father and son had fregly discussed their rdligious views together, and Cyril generdly addressed him as"Dad.”

Mr. Markham was interested in Spiritudism, but hiswife, who had "High Church” views, was much averseto it Cyril's
comment on thiswas "Want Néllie to do something for me. Will she bresk down mother's attitude?"

"Nellie" was hissster, who had greatly helped her parents since the son's desth.

Cyril dsowrote: "Mary bringsafeding of hope," referring to afriend of hissgter's.

On one occasion he stated " Claud has had narrow escape.”

Thisreferred to acousn of hiswho had been wounded.

He mentioned one day, in amessage to hisfather, that he had seen "Rdly"-"Harold Wood"-"Taylor"-and "endless fel lows."

A letter from Mr. Markham gave the following information about these friends: "One of Cyril's Scout Boys, in whom he was
interested was called Raly...ne had afellow prefect named Wood, who had acommissionin
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thearmy.... Taylor was another schoolfdlow."

| was unacquainted with any of these names.
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Cyril stated that he had been at school, "Harrow and Portsmouth”; hisfather wrote: "Cyril was at Harrow at school, his
regiment was stationed at Portsmouth.”

Lieut. Markham had a house-master at school named Lynwood, whose opinion carried great weight with his parents; Cyril
oncewrote: "Mr. Lynwood has so much weight with my people,” and hisfather, seeing the script later, was specidly interested
inthisremark.

The chief interest of the following account liesin thefact thet it shows very clearly how confusion may arise when two
communicators from "the other Sde’ are writing on about the same date.

The confusion is of the same nature as that which ensues when two photographic impressions are registered on the same plate,
or two peoplein succession speak inditinctly through a tel ephone, and the person listening does not know the persondity or
the voice of ether.

In April, 1918, | was corresponding with aMrs. Elict, living in Sussex, about an interview
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with her that | wastrying to arrange. | had been told that someone connected with her had lately died, and she expressed a
wish to see me, asthe fact had been mentioned to her that | could write automaticaly.

| had no idea whether the person who had died was afriend or relation of hers, man or woman.

After some correspondence, we finally arranged that | should go and see her on April 29th.

On April 26th | had the following experience.
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| was resting in the afternoon, as | had made an ‘appointment to write (automatically) at 5:15 p.m. for acertain Lieut. Arthur
Drayton (deceased) who was a stranger to me.

Whileresting | became aware (clairvoyantly) of ayoung officer pacing up and down my room; both hishandswerein his
pockets, and he was whistling atune.

Hiswhole persondity expressed abundant vitality and joyousness; he seemed a mere boy, and | was amused by his
light-hearted gaiety, and the quick swing with which he turned each time he came to the end of the room.

My attention was thoroughly aroused, and | found that | was receiving aclear but fragmentary impression of his character,
which
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| wrote down alittle later. | giveit exactly as| noted it then:

Alert, spontaneous, clever, refined, particular about his persond appearance and that of others...agood dedl of real
humour...very keen, original, capable of kegping severd things going at the sametime...the sort of person onewould get in
touch with easly and find redlly interesting...many-sded, versatile, accessble.”

| naturaly concluded that this boy was the person who wasto write at 5:15 p.m., though | was surprised at getting such an
impresson previoudy.

| therefore sent the character-sketch, with a copy of the script received at 5:15 p.m. to Mrs. Drayton, and was more than
surprised to hear from her that neither had the least connection with her son Arthur.

| went on April 29th, as arranged, to see Mrs. Eliot, and found that it was her son, Bruce by name, for whom she wished meto
write; he had been killed in the war.



| found him easy to get into touch with, and will reproduce his messages | ater.

A week or two after my visit to Mrs. Eliot, a sudden idea came to me concerning the so-called "Drayton” script; from whéat |
hed learnt
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on April 29th of Bruce Eliat, after writing fredy for him for an hour and ahaf, | fet fairly sure that the script and
character-sketch belonged to him.

| accordingly sent acopy of both to Mrs. Eliot, who replied asfollows: "The mental impression was quite the best | have had
from anyone, asfar asit goes; it exactly describeshim.”

The script, too, seems quite definitely to have come from Bruce Elicot, asthe following extracts, with verification notes, will
show: "l am aged twenty, you know, younger than my brother. | do misshim, dear old chap.... | am fedling how trueistheidea
expressed in our motto, Mother.... Geraniums| loved...we had such alot in our garden...sorry new gardener has said
good-byeto those."

His mother's |etter confirmed the above as follows: "He was twenty-one when he died...he had an elder brother to whom he
was deeply attached...the idea expressed in our motto is-'ad rem’-to the point-and he was extraordinarily to the point in al he
did. We had many geraniums always, and-if was ajoke against our former gardener that he would grow nothing else | Instead
of
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them last year we had tomatoes and beetroot on the terrace!”
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Lieut. Eliot referred to his own degath; hewrote | get feding of'-

[illugtration of averticd zig-zag scrawl]

Asl, L.M.B., wrotethis, my hand became quite numb, and | breathed heavily; | had the feding, first of high dtitude, and then
of argpid zig-zag fdl. | explained to him that he was giving me a horrible sensation, and he wrote: "1 say, | am sorry. How
extraordinary to be sure.

'My next sense-impression was of an overpowering smell of petrol, and Bruce Eliot then wrote: "Did you smell petrol ?*

| answered (inwriting), "Yes, strong smell,” and he added, "Our engine did give out clouds of petrol.”

Mrs. Eliot gave usthe following informetion

68 CHARACTER SKETCHES

later: The engine was riddled with bullets, and giving out clouds of petrol.”

The script continued: "Mother has avivid account of what took place.... Colond of section, nice letter he wrote.”

His mother wrote: "I have avery vivid account of his desth from himself, through amedium...and avery niceletter from the
doctor of hisformer battdion, he may have acted as Colond."

Thelast part of the script of April 26th contained these words:
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"Mother would be wise to make enquiries about getting dterations done by --. Don't be advised by Mr. X-, whoisin
correspondence. | fed it isunwise. | am uneasy, Mother, do you follow? Uneasy about some dealing with Mr. X-. Y ou must
get things done quickly, mustn't you? | hopethisideawill reach you.... It isonly atrifling matter in comparison, but | care for
your comfort, Mother."

Mrs. Eliot confirmed this as follows; "Rather remarkable about the dterations, as it seemsto refer to atransaction about to take
place, but which at thetime | was unaware of ... All has been done now. | did make enquiries. | did not take the advice
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of the person | was then in correspondence with. The whole Situation is changed, which has added to my comfort.”

Referring once more to his brother, he commented thus: "Rod (his brother Roderick, name correct) ismy great chum...heis
colossdl...heisagreet fellow redly.”

A message was sent to afriend: " Send a message from meto Doris, send Doris my love, and say when she comes here we will
have agorgeoustime.”

Welearnt that "Dodswas agreset friend of his, agirl of about fifteen; they used to have great fun together.

All the above script, except the reference to "Rod" and "Doris' was received on April 26th, before | had met Mrs. Eliot at dll,
or even knew of the existence of her son Bruce.

The part about "Rod" and "Doris’ was written on April 29th, when Mrs. Eliot was present.

The evidentia matter received on that day was especidly interesting and val uable, but was of too private a nature to be
reproduced here.
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His persondity was very apparent throughout the writing, and one or two touches (from the script of April 26th) are given:

70 CHARACTER SKETCHES

"I say, itismost awfully good of you doing this. It must seem queer to you, we are utter strangers...dear me, how funny it is."

Asl wrotethis| heard him laugh, and he wrote the word "laugh" with alarge circleround it.

At the outset. of the first communication he asked: "Would you like meto take any specid line?" and | replied: "Take your own
ling, just use melike atelephone.”

He answered: "'l see. Thanks. jolly good of you. Do say if you get tired or bored.”

During the autumn of 1918 | wrote for him again, his mother being present. | was able to get into touch with him quite fredy
and easily in spite of the lgpse of severd months.

Hewrote: "Isnt it niceto tak, dear?.... | see so far here, it isadeightful experience,

Hewas evidently till in close touch with those whom he knew in the earth-life, for he referred at some length in this script to
the recent death of ayoung cousin, Pauline, and to its effect upon her parents.

Of the girl herself hewrote: ™' | am longing to help Pauline...strange how she
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died, wasn't it? She was young, too, wasn't she?... So easily she dipt over...felt no shock at dl...it was as easy asaquiet
deep...and al was made so possible herefor her, tell her mother this. | do hope her work will be acknowledged, it was of red
vaue"

He showed amost sympathetic ingght into the grief of the father and mother of Pauline, noting their condition from day to day,
and actudly sharing in their sorrow.

Referring to the father, he wrote: | saw him aday or two ago, and | felt quite sad after. | whispered to him, but he did not hear.

| fear he could hear nothing. Heisan awfully fine character.”

Before writing for Lieut. Eliot on that day, | was aware (psychically) that the death of someone connected with him had taken
place, but | knew nothing of Pauline or her family, nor did Mrs. Eliot mention her until after | had written the above.

One point of interest concerned his brother "Rod."

Bruce asserted that "Rod" had gone to Boulogne, but indicated that there was no cause for darm, and that he would return to
England.
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His mother could not believe the assertion about Boulogne, as"Rod" was then in the fighting line.

She wrote later: "My son has returned from France. He did go to Boulogne to get some spectacles, unknown to metill some
weeks after.”

CHAPTERVI

SPECIAL RELATIONSHIPS
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I'T must be evident that the work upon which I have lately been engaged is of such anature that it has brought meinto contact
with many grief-stricken people.

| have not emphasi sed the fact in this short record, owing to my belief that their first natural and inevitable sorrow should be
gradudly and sympatheticaly directed towards the brighter outlook upon degth and separation which the study of
spirit-communicetion isdesigned to give.

It has been noticeabl e throughout the war that the bereaved, faced suddenly with the lossthat death entails, have been in many
cases unable to derive comfort or strength from any of the ordinary sources. Religion and philosophy dike failed to touch them
a such atime, and it isin these instances that The New Revdation (aptly named by Sir Arthur Conan Doyle) has met and
relieved their greet need.

It may bethat the Giver of all comfort permits those whose loss has created the gap of

73

74 SPECIAL RELATIONSHIPS

Separation, to be the very means of bridging over the gap; the following instances at least appear to point in thisdirection.

Thefirst instance given concerns the message sent by a son, killed in the war, to his mother, in the first shock of her distress.
He sent four very short, careful messages, which we reproduce here in the order in which they were received.

Thefirs read asfollows; "Be brief, as mother's mind is so sunned.”

Next, "Try and be very cool when you see her.”
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Next, "Say |, Gilbert, have been with her dl to-day.”

Next, "Say |, Gilbert, am diveindeed.”

Next, "Say |, Gilbert, am dways near her."

Next, "Say |, Gilbert, amn in avery happy place, with my great chum.”
Next, "Say |, Gilbert, an awayswith her and father."

"Mother, you must believethis.

"Gilbert X-."

The second message was sent on the day following:

"1, Gilbert, have been with you al to-day.

"1, Gilbert, have seen your grief and understand.
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"1, Gilbert, am aive indeed.

"1, Gilbert, have not left you.

"1, Gilbert, am not dead in any sense of theword.

"1, Gilbert, am happy, very happy, except for your grief.
"1, Gilbert, hope to bring you comfort.

"1, Gilbert, love you just the same.

"Mother, believe.

"Gilbert."



With reference to the expression used above:

"l am not dead,” he added an explanation:

"1, Gilbert, an alive. Thereisno deeth redly. We are only out of the fleshly body, and this new body is not unlike the old one,
but infinitely more beautiful, more easily moved about, and more diveto al thelife of the whole universe,

"Gilbert."

.Thefollowing day hewrote: I, Gilbert, send yet athird message to you, mother.

"I, Gilbert, never leave you.

"l, Gilbert, am diveindeed.

"I, Gilbert, am happy, except for your sorrow.

"I, Gilbert, will be able soon to make you fed me near, you do now, but you will be perfectly sure soon.
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"1, Gilbert, love you more than ever. Death cannot touch our love.

"I, Gilbert, make an gpped to you. "Moather, believe.

Gilbert."

Two dayslater the following, message was written:

"I, Gilbert X., send yet another message.
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"I, Gilbert, see dl you do.

"I, Gilbert, saw you pray to-day by the open window (Correct).
"I, Gilbert, help you not to cry.

"I, Gilbert, see you and love you more than ever.

"I, Gilbert, am happy with Im, my chum. Take comfort, mother.

"Mother, bdieve.

Gilbert."

Note.-Gilbert X- was acomplete stranger to me; | had not previoudy known of hisexistence. The referenceto hisfriendis
correct.

The same consderation is shown in the case of ason for hisfather, an old man, l&ft terribly desolate by his son's death. He had
been reported "Missing,” and | had been asked if | could get definite news from arelation (deceased).
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Theinformation came direct from the missing son, who asked meto send it to hisfather, adding the following comment: " Poor
old chap, heishit thistime."

His next message was. "My loveto my father. We are very near him, and helping, tell him this. He may be useful with you on
earth yet, and so must bide histime.”

In answer to. written questions from hisfather, he wrote:

"I am decidedly the gainer. | seethat. More scope. Genera ways of communication more open here. Y ou, father, will
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appreciate great minds here. Y ou can get glimpse into some. My gresat discovery wasto find God everywhere. It israther a
staggerer. | mean, one hasto get used to it...it was painful a times.”

Hewrote later: "Onething, father, | should be pleased if you did it. Consult Dr X- about yourself, and do not get run down.
Livewell to the end, and don't give up the game, play it right out. All iswell with us.

Y our son."

Another time hewrote: "1 am quite convinced, father, that death only shiftsthe fulcrum...shifts.... | see you walk up that lane
back of house asclearly as|
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saw you of old. I wonder inthe morningsif you will take to astick. Better do so, father.

| am giving you ingght...look up abit more...no mist hangs over the placein redity. My very will isbound to lift you. | will.
Age...age...itistheflesh only. Bear that lightly, and take it as a very warm and comfortable coat with holes, and don't fed
ashamed of awell-worn coat. Hold on to the end with as much courage as aman may muster in arough and tumble world as
you think it, it isnot so redlly. | say, you know, | am very fit and well and happy, and would not come back, save to give you
an arm over the latter stiles”

A letter from thefather confirms the above asfollows:

"What Dick said about seeing me go up the lane at the back of the houseis particularly appropriate, asthe lane does go up,
and | have stopped and wondered if he saw me as| walked ft."

Note.-In this case also | was dedling with complete strangers, living in a place unknown to me.

The following messages are from aprivate, killed in the war, to hisfiancée, written in 1917, severd months after his desth.
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His early communications showed that he realised her grief very deeply, and he wrote with much agitation: "Has shefdt no love
reach her?... Have | any right to bind you till? | have so often wondered, and turned it over and over.... Has your beautiful
lovefor megrown?l. fed it has. Shal | vanish out of your mind?1 fed not.... | mean, can you remember how. | looked, quite
asmuch asever?just tell meyou can, and | will be very happy. | am remembering...it isgood to remember...no one can take
that away.... | am happier snce | spoketo you. | amindeed. | am easier in my mind.”

The above was given on different days, some months|later he wrote:

" am permitted to Stay very near you, aslove bindsus closdly.... Don't fed sad, | am so very near. | only wish you could see
me. | believel look just the same. | fed you quite close a times, and even touch you. How faithful to meyou are, and death
leaves such traces on your dear face. Mineisthe less affected.

Death iskind to us, so very kind, and help isaways at hand here. Never forget | am here by you to the end of time. If | cannot
often
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write, still 1 am here; and speak oftento me, | hear dl, and reply.... Be brave, asyou have been. Life hereisbefore us
both...wait alittle while and we will be together.”

Note.-The communicator was quite unknown to me, but | was acquainted with hisfiancée; | have not reproduced the
evidentiad matter in his messages, which was considerable, and was verified by her.

Thefollowing messages were sent by an officer to hisfiancée, the first written afew weeks after hisdeeth; it ran asfollows:
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"Wewill love each other, though we cannot actualy see each other. Go and live your life bravely. Wewill be together a
glorious day in the future...will you wait for me?1 will wait for you, and prepare for you...we will be united...navefaith, for
death cannot touch our love."

Later hewrote: "Sheisas preciousto me asgold in the process of being refined.... | think verily that love transforms as nothing
€lse can. He himsdlf is achanged man indeed. John is not worthy of her, as he knows. John...call me dwaysthat...it means
lovesable. John the beloved discipleisan ideal one may well bear inmind, Loveis
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nothing if not steady. We cannot get alofty enough conception. Thereisan old Italian legend.... Ah, the old book of mine. If |
could turn up the page and show you.... Well | recollect.... Love thereis an old man, and rightly. | am leaving now with the

thought

(crown)

LOVE--> spotless.

Thismust beour ided, lest lovefail initsobject. Given such agift, let us penetrate to its very heart, and love will then overflow
and enrich the ground. All shareintruelove.

John."

Note.-In this case d so there was a considerable amount of evidentia matter; | knew the fiancée, but the communicator was
unknown to me. Both "John" and his fiancée have given permission for the publication of these messages, in the hope that they
may bring comfort to others who have suffered the sameloss.

The other fiancée has generoudy given leave, for the same reason.

CHAPTERVII
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ERRONEOUS, CONFUSED AND IRRELEVANT MATTER

| SHOULD not like this short account to be published without reference to the erroneous and confused matter which has
occurred from timeto timein the scripts.

It was necessary, for the sake of clearness, to collect the evidential messages, with their verification, and record them without
the addition of the confused matter, which in some cases accompanied them.

The amount of this confused matter varied in every case; in acertain number of messages there was none; in otherstherewas a
consderable proportion; whilst in one case the evidential matter resolved itsdlf into three correct statements only, verified by a
friend of the communicator; these were picked out from amass of irrdlevant matter, and were asfollows:

(2) "My very old golf boots are pathetic to see...do |et them go...|eather to leather.”
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(2) "1 had money and spent agood dedl in travelling.”

(3) "I loved the sea dbove everything..”

In this case the connecting link was of the dightest; areader of Light had seen an article of mine, and wroteto ask if | could
obtain amessage from afriend of hers, who had died some years before.

In another case | received aletter from an officer known to me only by name, asking if | could get amessage from afriend of
his, whose brother had been killed inthe war.
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The result was afailure, as none of the script was recognised. The causes of partia or complete failure, in my own experience,
areto me generaly obscure, dthough | have noticed that those who have long "passed over,” or who died at an advanced age,
are asarulemore difficult to get into touch with, unlesstheir minds are exceptiondly flexible.

Anather very great difficulty congstsin theinability of some mindsto deal with evidential matter when it is presented to them; in
their estimation, evidence must necessarily consist of clear answersto definite questions, names correctly given,-referencesto
incidentswhich "X- would most certainly remember,” etc.
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The two former are exceptiondly difficult to obtain, for reasons unknown.

It often happens that the evidence given isnot on theselines at dl, but is of amore subtle and indirect nature.

To giveahypothetica instance.

A certain script purports to be written by John Graham, who asserts that he was born at Southend, and collected old china. He
had travelled agreat ded in the East in his youth...had a clear recollection of acertain old garden, and liked to give expensive
presents.

This script would be sent to Mrs. John Graham for verification, and her answer would quite possibly be: "I do not think it can
be from my husband, as his name was Clarence, not John, and he had never travelled in the East.”

A second letter to Mrs. Graham would dlicit the facts that her husband had travelled agreet dedl in hislife, athough he had not
been to the Eadt; that he had a onetime lived in ahouse which had a beautiful old garden, and that it had been his great
pleasure to give expensive presents.

In someinstances the only verifiable part of the message liesin the fact that it is characterigtic of the persondity of the writer,
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andthis
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isnot a first recognised, owing to the expectation of adifferent kind of evidence. | have had one very interesting example of
this, too long to reproduce here.

Two very curious cases occurred, in which incorrect statements were made; both referred to the supposed deaths of men
serving in thewar; in each case the death was quite definitely asserted, and circumstantial details given; in each casethe very
existence of the, man was previoudy unknown to me, and verification of the satement was delayed.

An unusual feature of these scriptswas, that it was alleged that aman named Méller, described as an enemy, had confused the
messages, and that be had some connection with the death of one of these men. Thiswas obvioudy not apoint that could be
proved.

In the case of extreme illness, assertions have been made as to the death or recovery of theinvalid; in two cases of the former
kind, it was announced that the patient would shortly die; in both cases the patient recovered, although one had been at the
point of death for some days, and had been pronounced by the doctor to be past recovery.

In one case in which recovery was prophesied (an officer dangeroudy wounded) his condition
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was reported amost daily in automatically-written messages, and these reportstallied with the medica bulletinsreceived later
from France. At the time when hisrecovery was confidently asserted, his condition was most critical and no hope was given by
the doctor.

In this case the patient recovered completely.
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The messages sometimes contain agood dedl of confused matter, illegible words, and fragmentary sentences; thisis specialy
noticeable towards the end of along sitting, or when | myself am tired.

An example of irrdevant communication is given in the following, reproduced exactly asit occurred:

A namewaswritten; "Lieut. Muriontel," followed by "my brother has been hit by my death...writeto him.. fetch frere...Monte..."
| answered: "1 amin England.”

Hereplied: "Maddlle, Oui, maisjenejamais’ (scribble).

| sad: "Try aFrench medium.”

The answer was. "Areyou not French?'

| replied: "No, English.”

Heanswered: "Oh...ah je...adieu.”
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Another rambling communication, aso purporting to come from a Frenchman, was given at the end of amessage from
someone dse.

No namewas given; it ran asfollows:

"Y our England been (or being) beaten...Mon pays...Mon (s¢) femme aquitter (sc) laFrancelorsque je Mon femme...you will
help her Comment?*

| have thought it best occasionaly to receive such messages, when they came unsought, as it seemed inhuman to refuse; but |
have had no time to pursue either of the above cases, and there was no clue whatever to their identity.
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Note.-It may be worth mentioning that my nameis of French extraction, and this may have supplied some dight opening for a
French communiceation.

Another example of irrelevance occurred while writing automaticaly in an old house, which had formerly been aninn.

| had spent the night in this house, and had noticed in the room in which |. dept an dmost overpowering smell of ether, which
came intermittently and was quite unaccountable.

Thefollowing morning | enquired of a spirit-guide what was the explanation of the smell, and the words were written:
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"Ether was dying...has been buried without my wife."

| explained that | could not write for strangers, and the question was written:

"Whet say?"

Then followed the name "Roger Gunner," who asserted that he was arailway guard, killed in an accident somefifty years
previoudy; he said that he often dept in thisinn. He gave copious detail sto prove hisidentity, but in spite of many enquirieswe
were unsuccesstul intracing him.

It may be that some messages which | have deemed whally irrdlevant have had significance which | could not trace; the chief
difficulty in preventing interruptions and confusion is the ignorance which prevails concerning the laws which govern this method
of communication; increasing knowledge will probably do much to iminate disturbance of thiskind.
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A knowledge of human nature, and a power of discrimination can, even at this stage of imperfect knowledge, safeguardto a

cons derable extent those who attempt to receive messages by these means.

CHAPTERVIII

GUIDES

| do not think that it will be. out of place here, and it may even be of someinterest to readers, to sketch briefly the part played
by "Guides," (my own and others) in the communications received automaticaly during these two years.

| had read of the help given by spirit-guidesto those in earth-life, but it did not at first occur to me to seek this help when
writing automatically, and | did not in fact know how it was possible to get into touch with them.

During the summer of 1916, shortly after | had begun thiswriting, | had a series of puzzling messages connected with avery
interesting case which | am not able to report here.

At adifficult point in these communications, | suggested to the communicator that he might ask help from hisown guide, and he
replied "He hasjust cometo the rescue must say my guideisafine fellow.”

We learnt from this guide that his name was Bennett; he had been a clergyman, and had died
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three years before. He asserted that he had been "very High Church,” an undergraduate of Christ Church, Oxford; that hisfirst
curacy was a Holy Trinity, Ramsgate. He stated that hisfather was aso aclergyman, and had lived at Ramsgate.
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We had no ideawhether any of these statements were true, but took considerable trouble in trying to verify them, asthey
would have been interesting evidentidly, if correct.

We had, however, no successin establishing hisidentity, and were obliged to leave it, as more important work was in hand.

The communicator described Bennett as "a clear-headed man" and wiser than himsdlf, able to advise him asto the best way of
giving proof of identity.

Bennett was dso useful in suggesting the best times for writing automaticaly, and telling me when to stop owing to fatigue; this
kind of advice was afterwards taken in hand by my own guide, who made himsalf known to me some days later under the
name of Hewett. He was described to me at another time by a medium, who gave the name as Hubert, and stated that he was
aliterary man.

Hewett explained the work of guides asfollows.
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"Guides arefor helpful serviceto those on earth.... Guides are what you call disembodied spirits...thersisthis very specid
work."

Since he disclosed his persondity, | have used his help congtantly in tracing strangers (deceased) for whom | wasto write,
asking him to explain the method of communication to them if it were unfamiliar, and to keep away other personditieswho
might unconscioudy confuse the messages.

Ontwo occasions only, when | sought his help, | wastold that he had "gone away"; one of these occasions was at
Chrigtmas-time, when | wasinformed that he had "gone home."

| once wrote for aMr. Johns (deceased) whom | had known very dightly, and found that an overpowering fegling of distress
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and misery accompanied his attempts at communication, so that | was obliged to tell him that | could write no more; the next
day Hewett explained that Mr. Johnswas "in great trouble. He added,” He can't write now, it isimpossible...heisnot ableto
bear much. | am very sorry for him."

On one occasion Hewett gave me beforehand a scrap of information which proved to be correct; it was in connection with an
Atlanticliner,
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which he asserted would arrive on a certain Saturday, giving the date; it reached port on the following day, but a passenger told
me that they had actualy arrived on the Saturday, though they could not disembark. Thiswasin 1917, when no news of the
arriva of shipswas allowed to be given.

Hewett has never taken up any of my time, or attempted to communicate on his own account; he hasfigured solely as a helper
and director to me, and to those who have communicated through me. Only twice has he commented on the communicators,
onceinacasewhich | am not at liberty to report, and again when an old lady was writing, of whom he remarked: "The old lady
flagged...she goes...was she abelle in her youth? She is strong and fine. My comment.

Hewett."

In both cases the comments were very much to the point, and correct.

Eight other "guides’ have figured from timeto time in the script, only two of them being women; each personality seemed quite
digtinct, and dl showed great insght into the minds of those to whom they were attached as guides, summing up their
characterigtics, and giving suitable advice in each case
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No evidential vaue can, however, be attached to the above, asin each case the individua s were known to me.

One of the guides described himsdlf as having been an American engineer; another said that he was aprivate, killed inthe
Afghan War. A third, named Scott, said that he was a clergyman, and his remarks were characterised throughout by abreezy
humour and optimiam.

Asin the case of my own guide, Hewett, the others were hel pful at first in bringing those to whom they were attached as

hel persinto touch with me, but when direct touch was established, they seemed to stand aside, unless specially appeded to for
help. One guide asserted that she was only intermittently attached to her earth-protégée, and declared that the help given was
mutual. Theideaof minigtrations by guardian spiritsto those on earth isavery familiar one, but the possbility of the help being
reciproca isat least unusua and suggestive.

Note.-All thismatter concerning Guidesis smply gathered from the script.

| have no means of knowing whether they are red entities, or merely creations of the subconscious mind.

CHAPTERIX

SUPER-NORMAL SENSE-IMPRESSIONS, ETC.

I'T may have been observed that in some of the accounts given, sense-impressions experienced by me have played some part
inintengfying thefeding of redity conveyed to my mind.

It would appear that anyone possessed of mediumistic powers (usualy described as a sensitive) becomes aware from timeto
time of the operating of an expanded consciousness, clairvoyance and clairaudiencefdl naturdly into this category, and it
seems probable that there are other varieties of manifestation.

My own experience includes many of these, and | record them smply asthey came to me, without any attempt at classification
or explanation. | cannot attempt either, as my experience has been too limited; no doubt this could be undertaken by other
sengitives, who possess alonger record of such impressions from which to make deductions.

| have, from time to time throughout my life, been conscious of supernorma impressions,
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if I may roughly classify thefollowing as such. My first memory of thiskind isof adream when | wasfiveyearsold; | was
serioudy ill at thetime, and it seemed to methat | had left my body, and was moving through space, guided by someone, who
took meto heaven, into the Presence of Chrigt.

He was seated on athrone, around which many people were standing. | was not immediately presented to Him, but when my
turn came | wastold to go forward, and Christ placed alittle crown on my head, very gently and kindly. On my way back, |
passed hdl, which looked like a hole in the ground, from which clouds of smoke came up; | saw many people going down
there, and was grestly distressed about this when | awoke. The strongest impression which remained with me wasthat of the
persondity of Chrigt, and | lay till for along time, lest the feding should leave me.

| have remembered thisdream clearly al my life, and the room in which it took place.

The next experience 'that | can remember came to me when | was hel ping to train students for teaching at a certain College;
‘thework was very engrossing, and | fully expected that this would be my occupation for the future.
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Ontwo occasions, however, | heard avoice clairaudiently which told methat 1 should not be at the College long, and that my
lifeework did not lie there. Asamatter of fact, | was a the Collegefor ayesar.

In the early morning of New Y ear's Day (I think in 1910) | saw at about 7 am. alarge wooden crossin my room. It appeared
asif made of dark oak, and was very large, reaching aimost to the celling; it remained stationary for afew seconds, and then
vanished. Animpression of coming difficultieswas|eft strongly in my mind, and one of the most formidable faced me about a
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fortnight later, and others throughout that year.

In December, 1916, | woke one night to see a bright figure bending over me, but the face was not discernible; another night |
woke suddenly, and found myself enveloped in aflood of light. | have continualy seen rays of light gpparently issuing from my
own head, and assume that this must be the "aura’ often described by clairvoyants.

In February of the same year, on the 11th and 15th, | saw on each occasion a shadowy white figure, unrecognisable but clear.

On Jduly 1st and 12th, 1917, | had two psychic experiences, which may or may not
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have been connected; | have never been ableto find out if they had any meaning.

Onthe 1<, | woke at 2 am., and saw aman with awhite drawn face, and eyes dilated and wild. He conveyed the impression
tomeof saying "l will doit" (meaning suicide). When he had vanished, | was|eft with agreat feeling of fear.

Onthe 12th, at 3:30 am., | was awakened by the report, heard clairaudiently, of a pistol shot, and caught a glimpse of
someone holding apistal to the back of hishead. | had an oppressive fedling of being in close proximity to this person at the
moment.

Twice | have experienced strongly, and often dightly, the fegling of being drawn out of my body to watch some passing event;
this usudly occursjust before deep.

On thefirst occasion the darkness of my room appeared to focus, into aball | of blackness, which suddenly opened, and
disclosed awide, straight road, along which amotor-car was rushing at great speed. | seemed 'to follow this car, keeping close
behind it, and had the impression afterwardsthat | had saved it from an accident, or that | mysdlf had had a narrow escape.
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| was suddenly back on my bed, gasping for
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breath, my heart beeting very quickly, fully avake.

On the second occasion, at 2:15 p.m., | wasresting on my bed, when | found myself following a motor-ambulance in the same
waly; we rushed past two cars coming towards us; the road we were on. was wide, and very dusty, raised above the
surrounding fields. The day was bright, and the contrasting darkness of two tunnels under which we passed was very marked.

On November 21st, 1917, and April 12th, 1918, | saw two people clairvoyantly, neither of whom had been known to mein
earth-life; | identified them by describing them afterwards.

Onewas an dderly lady, whose daughter was staying with me at the time; the other was the sster of afriend with whom | was
daying.

Referring to the latter, the son of the lady who had died was expected home on leave from the East that day, and the
appearance of his mother seemed to be in some way connected with his expected arrival.

In January, 1918, | saw some writing on thewall of my room; it consisted of two Christian names and asurname, dl of which |
recognised, as they were the names of an airman whom | knew to have been killed, though he was not
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personally known to me. | dso had the impression that | was trying to write automatically. A few dayslater afriend, to whom |
had not mentioned thisincident, chanced to. remark that on the 28th she had received a short message automatically written,
fromthisairman.
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On February 2nd, 1918, | had a curioudy vivid dream, which at the time seemed to be more like avision.

| waswalking adong acorridor in an old house, guided by an ederly lady, with very beautiful soft white hair. | noticed somefine
stained glass windows on the right side of the corridor, and we stopped once while she remarked on these.

At the end of the corridor was adoor on the left, and a maid passed us, and opened this door; | glanced in, and saw the maid
proceeding to lay the fire. The room was dimly lighted, asthe curtains, bluein colour, were not drawn back; the colouring of
the room was indistinctly blue throughout. There was an old lady lying in bed, facing the window, and the one who was guiding
me told methat thiswas her sster, who wasill.

| have adim recollection’ of such ahouse, but the clueistoo dight to pursue.
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| have three times seen (clairvoyantly) the friend who has assisted me with this book once when she was away on rather
distressing business, once when | myself wokein the night with afeeling of distress, and the third time for no reason that we can
remember.

During the Spring of 1918, a stranger engaged in war-work dept at our house for severa months, and after she had l€ft, |

happened to deep for one night in the room that she had occupied. | woke severa timesin the night, feeling very uneasy, and
conscious of someone standing close to the bed, He leaned over me, and on. hisface was avery fixed, searching expression,
and hard lines round the mouth. | shrank from the fedling of distress that he brought with him each time that he came near me.

It occurred to me the second time that he was seeking someone, not myself, whom he expected to find there; | therefore
mentally explained to him that Miss X- had left, and he disappeared. A few, dayslater, | met Miss X-, and shetold methat a
brother of herswasjust reported "Missing.”

So far as| know, no news of him has been received.
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On August 14th, 1918, at about 10 p.m.,
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| had a strong presentiment that some tragedy had taken place, either that someone had died suddenly or been killed in the
war; | mentioned this at the time to my friend. This ominous feding remained with mefor quite an hour, accompanied by greet
physica discomfort; my flesh seemed to "creep,” and | shivered. | aso became aware that someone wasin my. room, trying to
attract my attention, but I could see nothing, and had no ideawho it could be.

Two days later atelegram came to my friend, asking her to break the news of a sudden death to someone staying in her house.

Some years ago | attended the funerd of an old clergyman whom | had visited congtantly during hislast illness.

The service was taken by his eldest son, who was aso aclergyman. Therewas along pause for slent prayer before the coffin

was removed from the Church, and glancing up during thissilence, | saw that the officiating priest was standing before the dtar,

with hisarms raised high above his head. He remained in this position for acurioudy long time, and the congregation grew a
little restless at the delay.

| do not know whether anyone else became aware, as | did, of the cause of thisdelay.
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| could see quite plainly the outstretched arms and hands of hisfather, reaching down from above, and grasping hisown; |
knew the hands too well to mistake them.

The son did not change his position till the father's grasp was rel axed.
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There seemed to be a specia sgnificance about this act, asthe son had found some difficulty, during hisfather's later years, in
maintaining sympathetic touch with him.

The sense-impressions recorded above, taken asawhole, affect one'snormd life very little; | noted them carefully at the time,
and put them aside, in case of possible verification later.

CHAPTER X.

THE POTENTIAL VALUE OF COMMUNICATION

BEFORE closing this short record, it may be of useto refer briefly to the potentia value of communication from “the other
sde" in general, and to touch on the opinions and criticisms expressed by those who have entered into this subject with us
during the last two years, in many casesfor thefirst time.

Owing to the careful system of introduction pursued throughout, | have been fortunate and privileged in coming into contact
only with those who have gpproached the matter in adignified and thoughtful spirit, the only spirit in which such investigation is,
to my mind, judtifiable.

In the case of public mediums, the protection of careful private introduction is often lacking, and they are a the mercy of an
indiscriminate collection of stters, who come with very mixed, and even unworthy, motives.

In the latter cases, the communications received must necessarily be on alow level, and detrimenta to al concerned.

Many of the public mediumsare high
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minded and honourable people, who, owing to their sengitive nature, undergo a considerable amount of red suffering from
unworthy influences such asthese. If the extreme sensitiveness of this heightened consciousness were more generaly
recognised, stterswould, no doubt, hesitate to make use in the manner just indicated, of the rare powers placed at their

disposd.

On the other hand, it isarea refreshment and inspiration to high-minded mediums when they are brought into touch with sitters
and communicators of ahigher type, and the communications received under such conditions are often vauable, and aworthy
outcome of the delicate vital force expended.

There has often been a certain hesitation on the Sitter's part with regard to entering into communication with the departed, and
thisis probably dueto anatura and healthy sense of salf-protection, which halts before the exploration of unknown ground,
where even expertstread cautioudy, and confessto only fragmentary knowledge. A very common attitude on the part of
survivors seemsto be expressed in the following words: " Can we not leave them in God's hands? Why attempt to call them
back?
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It may bewdl to point out that they cannot be " called back againgt their will; they come at their own wishiif at al.

Perhaps the expression "cal them back” isinitsdf an unfortunate one, asit suggests a sharp division between the spirit-world
and our own, which isout of accord with much of the scientific thought of the day.

Recent tel epathic experiments have shown that thought-transference is unhampered by the limitations of space, and for al we
know, the worlds of spirit and matter may interpenetrate, as matter isinterpenetrated by the ether of space.

What limits can be st to the attraction-power of thought, especialy when the thought is permeated by love? If it istrue that
"neither life nor death can separate from the love of God," may this not aso be true of human love?

Love demands expression by intercourse of some kind, and intercourse with the spirit-world in the past has been limited to

69



communion with. God by means of prayer, and in the case of the Roman Church, the invocation of saints. It isat least worth
consdering whether communication with our own departed friends may not be a perfectly natural and legitimate extension of
the above.
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Animportant fact noticed by usis, that those on "the other Sde" often seem anxious to take any opportunity open to them of
re-establishing the intercourse interrupted by death, and some of their attemptsto do this have an element of pathosin them, as
they try one channel after another in the hope of success.

If, asis S0 often the case, the would-be communicator isaman of mature judgment, well-tempered mind, and unsdlfish
character, such action on his part should be respected by hisfriends on earth, even though thisinvolve some departure from
their habitua ways of thought.

It may be supposed that those in the next stage of existence are better judges on this question, so far asthey themselves are
concerned, than their friends on earth, who have had no experience of the change wrought by death.

The decision that inevitably restswith the survivorsis, what attitude they should wisdly adopt towards such communication if it
comes, and whether they themselves are in such a condition of mind and body asto render such communication beneficid to dl
concerned.

We have had many persond testimonies asto the beneficid and uplifting effect of communication,
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but these | etters are naturally of a private character. No case of detrimental effect has so far come into my persona experience.

That such communication, if entered upon at al, should be moderate and restrained, is as necessary asin the case of all
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friendships undue absorption of, one personality in another would be as limiting and inadvisable in the spirit-sphere asin any
other.

It is often stated that messages received in this manner are concerned mainly with trivialities, or else are of so abstruse anature
that no evidentid vaue can be attached to them. This accusation is one which might equally well be brought against our
communications with each other in earth-life, and it is not surprising to find the same menta conditions perssting after desth.

For proof of identity it will readily be granted thet trividities are inva uable; do we not sngle out our friends here from many
others, by smdl peculiarities of dress or manner?

The difficulty on the part of communicators must be very grest, as either type of communicationisliableto be classfied as
unsatisfactory by the recipients.

Asamatter of fact, the messagesthat | have received have been of avery varied
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character, and would scarcely fdl into either of the above categories.

Some communicatorstried to convey definite advice, some desired to give help of various kindsto their relations, some gave
news of "Missing" persons (correct in the mgority of cases), some expressed awish to hed amisunderstanding, whilst others
impressed upon their friends the fact of their continued and intengfied love and interest, and spoke of the mutua efforts needed
to link their world with ours.

The messages have sometimes indicated that help needs to be received on the other side, aswell as given; afew extracts
follow which make thisclear: "Do not grieve only...grief is so short-sighted, | mean, it blocksthe outlets, dear.... | an close at
hand, you must fed it surely?| cannot return, no.... Y ou face that one chasm, and then turn your back oniit. | returnin spirit,
and we must learn to meet in thisrealm. It is atremendous step, and uplifting to us both...a stepping-stone upwards...you will
seewhen grief istamed...tamed, yes...it isaforce which ravages.”
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A curious apped, made directly to ourselves,
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came one day from astranger killed in the war, who gave the name of Sogno. He wrote with much agitation:

"Sogno isgetting no help at dl, no help, | say...crud war.... God isindeed cruel to men. | am bitter and so sad....

"Miss, | am appedling to your charity. | was called to fight against my will and better judgment. | am sad and aone here. We
are not ready for this sudden change, how can we be? Help me, to you | apped. Y ou arereposeful, | fdt it, and camelikea
hunted thing | was and am, but | want to understand. | cannot follow yet, | am confused.... You are at rest, | seeand fedl. |
remain near at present, may 1?1 am no one you need fear at al. | drink repose.... | fed it, so it must be at hand. | get so
perplexed, see glimpsesat timesonly. | am helped.

"Ah, the sign of death...how we saw it on dl hands.... Your charity | appreciate.... | go now.... Ah...ah...you women are lucky
to bewhereyou are...ah...ah...s0 late and dark...so wet.... Sogno. Thank you."
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The case of "Sogno" is one of acute apped for help. | am told that special private circles exist for the help of such cases, and
that they are till carrying on the steady work begun in the stress of the war-need. Testimony from those helped in these circles
tends to show that in some cases, especidly wherethe grip of physical conditions has been strong and painful up to the moment
of deeth, the spirit finds himself best able to receive help from those il on earth, in order to prepare him for the further help
that awaits him beyond.

The close of earth-life has come to these men in an unnatural catastrophic fashion, for which our world in generd isresponsible.
They have missed the maturing influences of normd life at itslater stages, and the respongbility of compensating partly for this
loss rests with parents and friends here, as well. as with those who are hel ping them directly in the spirit-world. The thought of
help by prayer is accepted by many, but the possibilities, of direct thought-help are asyet very inadequately used or
understood.
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No oneiswithout experience of such help in his earth-life, and the gppea made by degth is surely that we should transmute the
power so commonly expended in hopeless grief into
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afruitful, developing influence of mind upon mind.

The growing belief in the continuity of life, and the fast-vanishing fear of death, are two of the most marked effects of the new
thought which has grown up around this subject.

Another effect isthe development of anew receptive attitude on the part of those here, asthe redisation dowly growsthat the
difficult process of rebuilding the socid order need not be undertaken by ourselves aone, but maybe ajoint effort, inspired by
those whose wider outlook givesalarger scope to human enterprise, and adeeper ingght into the ultimate possibilities of
humanlife

END
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